
 
Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 

 
If calling please ask for: 
 

Charles Gauntlett on 033 022 22524 
Email: charles.gauntlett@westsussex.gov.uk 
 

www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 

West Sussex 
PO19 1RQ 

Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 

 

 

9 September 2021 

Standards Committee 
 

A meeting of the Committee will be held at 2.15 pm on Friday, 17 September 
2021 at County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 

Note: In response to the continuing public health measures, there will be limited 
public access to the meeting. Admission is by ticket only, bookable in advance via: 

democratic.services@westsussex.gov.uk 
 

The meeting will be available to watch live via the Internet at this 

address: 
 

http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home 
 

Tony Kershaw 

Director of Law and Assurance 
 

 
 Agenda 

 

1. Declarations of Interest   
 

Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal interest in any 
business on the agenda. They should also make declarations at any stage such 
an interest becomes apparent during the meeting. Consideration should be 

given to leaving the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it. If in doubt 
please contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 

 
2. Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee  (Pages 3 - 6) 

 

The Committee is asked to agree the minutes of the meeting held on 14 June 
2021 (cream paper). 

 
3. Urgent Matters   

 

Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion 
should be considered as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances. 

 
4. Report by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman  (Pages 7 - 

26) 
 
Report by Executive Director Place Services and Director of Communities. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:democratic.services@westsussex.gov.uk
http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


The report outlines the findings of the Local Government Ombudsman’s Public 

Interest report issued on 20 July 2021 and the action taken by the County 
Council to comply with the Ombudsman’s recommendations. 

The Committee is invited to consider the report. 

 
5. Date of Next Meeting   

 
The next meeting of the Committee will be held at 2.15 pm on 29 November 
2021 at County Hall, Chichester. 

 
 

 
 
To all members of the Standards Committee 

 
 

 
Webcasting 

 

Please note: this meeting is being filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
County Council’s website on the internet. The images and sound recording may be 

used for training purposes by the Council. 
 
Generally the public gallery is not filmed. However, by entering the meeting room and 

using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible 
use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 

 
 

Page 2



Standards Committee 
 

14 June 2021 – At a meeting of the Standards Committee held at 2.15 pm at 
County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 

Present: Cllr Bradbury (Chairman) 

 
Cllr Wickremaratchi, Cllr Burrett, Cllr Cherry, Cllr Gibson, Cllr Johnson, 
Cllr Kenyon and Cllr Sparkes 

 
Apologies were received from Cllr A Jupp and Mr Cooper (Independent Person) 

 
Also in attendance: Mr Donaldson (Independent Person) 

 

Part I 
 

1.    Membership  
 
1.1 The Committee noted its membership. 

 
2.    Declarations of Interest  

 
2.1 In accordance with the code of conduct, Cllr Bradbury declared a 

personal interest in the Terms of Reference report as a member of 

the Mid Sussex District Council Standards Committee. 
 

3.    Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee  
 

3.1 Resolved – that the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held  
on 2 November 2020 be approved as a correct record and 
that they be signed by the Chairman. 

 
4.    Standards Committee Terms of Reference  

 
4.1 The Committee noted its terms of reference (copy appended to the 

signed minutes). 

 
5.    Standards Committee Annual Report  

 
5.1 The Committee considered the draft Annual Report of its work by 

the Director of Law and Assurance (copy appended to the signed 

minutes). 
 

5.2 The report was introduced by Charles Gauntlett, Senior Advisor, 
Democratic Services. 

 

5.3 The Committee was supportive of the draft Annual Report as an 
accurate reflection of its work in 2010/21. 

 
5.4 Resolved – That the Annual Report be approved for submission to 

the County Council. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



6.    Code of Conduct Updates, including IT Policy  

 
6.1 The Committee received a report from the Director of Law and 

Assurance (copy appended to the signed minutes), which set out 

some proposed updates to the Code of Conduct to reflect current 
terminology and current practice with IT provision. The report was 

introduced by Charles Gauntlett, Senior Advisor, Democratic 
Services. 

 

6.2 The Committee was supportive of the correction of the terminology 
but asked for clearer wording of ‘Senior Adviser to Cabinet Member’ 

to make the reference to ‘Senior Advisor’ clearer. 
 
6.3 Discussion turned to the IT Policy. It was clarified that the Intune 

app for accessing Council emails should only be used on a personal 
device as the app could cause problems with similar apps for other 

councils or business. The printing arrangements were discussed and 
the Committee welcomed the confirmation that printers would still 
be available to members who needed them, even though specific 

reference was proposed for removal from the Policy. The Committee 
noted that the existing restrictions on printing were due to the 

County Council’s IT security policies as a social care local authority 
but asked that the Cabinet Member for Support Services and 
Economic Development should review this position. 

 
6.4 Resolved –  

 
(1) That the removal of the term ‘senior adviser’ in paragraph 8 

of the Code of Conduct be clarified as ‘senior adviser to 
cabinet member’ and that this and the proposed changes to 
the IT Policy in Appendix 1 be endorsed and submitted to the 

County Council for approval on 16 July 2021. 
 

(2) That the Cabinet Member for Support Services and Economic 
Development be asked to reconsider the printing options 
available to councillors. 

 
7.    Whistleblowing Policy  

 
7.1 The Committee noted that there had been no referrals made using 

the Policy since the last meeting. 

 
8.    Date of Next Meeting  

 
8.1 The Committee noted that the next meeting is due to be held on 29 

November 2021. 

 
The meeting ended at 2.50 pm 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Chairman 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Key decision: Not applicable 

Unrestricted 
 

Standards Committee 

17 September 2021 

Report by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Report by Executive Director of Place Services and Director of 

Communities 

Electoral division: Not applicable 
 

Summary 

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) has published a report 
of an investigation into a complaint against the County Council.  The Ombudsman 

considers a set criterion when deciding whether to issue a public interest report.  The 
Ombudsman has cited the reasons for publishing this report as ‘recurrent faults, 

significant fault, injustice or remedy and systemic problems and/or wider lessons’. 

The Council has accepted the Ombudsman’s findings and the remedies set out within 
the report. 

Recommendations 

(1) The Committee is asked to consider the Ombudsman’s findings and to note the 

report and the actions taken by the Council following the Ombudsman’s final 
decision. 

 

Proposal 

1 Background and context 

 On 24 June 2021, the LGSCO published their findings into a complaint against 

the County Council as a Public Interest Report (PIR). The LGSCO consider six 
criteria when issuing a PIR following a complaints investigation, deciding 
whether the findings against the Council represent any of the following trends: 

• Recurrent faults (for example, the organisation keeps making similar mistakes). 

• Significant fault, injustice or remedy (by scale or the number of people 

affected). 

• Non-compliance with an Ombudsman’s recommendation (it has not agreed or 
has not carried out our recommendations). 

• A high volume of complaints about one subject. 

• A significant topical issue. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

 

• Systemic problems and/or wider lessons (for example, problems with how the 

organisation does things that if not put right are likely to affect others, and this 
is an opportunity for others to learn). 

In this case the reasons for issuing the report were ‘recurrent faults, significant 

fault, injustice or remedy and systemic problems and/or wider lessons’.  

 The full PIR is attached for information, but in summary: 

 Mrs. X complained the Council refused to assess her adopted son, Y, for direct 
payments or respite care. Mrs. X also complained Y was out of full-time 

education since February 2020. Mrs. X says the Council failed to respond to 
requests for escalation of her complaint. She says this situation has placed an 

added stress on the rest of the family and caused a financial burden in the 
absence of a council assessment and support. 

 The LGSCO found the Council at fault for failing to find a suitable school 
placement for Y as it had committed to do within Y’s ECHP. 

 The LGSCO found the Council at fault for failing to assess Y under its Section 17 
duty, causing an avoidable delay of nearly 23 weeks.  

 The LGSCO found the Council’s inaction meant that there was no respite in 
place for Mr. and Mrs. X and that this placed ‘added financial strain and distress’ 

on them. 

 The LGSCO found fault with the Council’s management of Mrs. X’s initial 
complaint. The stage one complaint response was issued outside of the 

Council’s published timescales; was not progressed at stage two of the 
Corporate complaints procedure; and was not considered under the statutory 
complaints procedure as it ought to have been. 

 The Council accepted all of the LGSCO’s findings and has met the requirements 
the LGSCO makes of a Council following the issue of a PIR.  The conclusion of 
this meeting will conclude the requirements on the Council in response to the 

LGSCO issuing a Public Interest Report. 

 The Council has agreed to comply with all of the remedies set out by the LGSCO 
in section 128-130 of the issued report. 

2 Current Background 

2.1 The LGSCO published the report on their website on 20 July 2021. 

2.2 The Council has, as required, placed two public notice announcements in local 

newspapers/newspaper websites (w/c 26 July 2021). It has also, as required, 
informed the LGSCO about the public notices. 

2.3 The Council is required to make copies of the report available to the public (free 

of charge) at one or more of the offices for three weeks following the public 
announcements. In this case, the Council made copies available at all the 

County’s libraries, as reception areas remain closed to the public. 

2.4 The report must be considered either in full Council, Cabinet or other 
committee. At West Sussex County Council, this is a role for the Standards 
Committee. 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



 

 

2.5 The Council must inform the LGSCO what action it has taken, or intends to take 

as a result of the report; the LGSCO informed the Council on 23 July 2021 that 
he was satisfied the Council had complied with the remedies set out in section 

128 of the final report.   

3 Consultation, engagement and advice 

3.1 Not applicable. 

4 Finance 

4.1 The Council accepts the findings and the recommendations set out in the 
LGSCO report; the Council has complied with the remedies set out in section 

128 of the LGSCO’s report and is on course to comply with the remedies set out 
in sections 129 and 130. There are no significant resource implications. 

5 Risk implications and mitigations 

Risk Mitigating Action (in place or planned) 
 

None arise.  

6 Policy alignment and compliance 

7.1 There will be equality impact considerations and Human Rights considerations 
in relation to the original decision and the subsequent consideration of the 

LGSCO’s recommendation. 

7.2 The individual young person is now receiving a service which the LGSCO 
determined was improperly denied. Going forward, other young people with the 

same needs will now be recognised as eligible for a service.  

7.3 Going forward, the audit of educational provision means the Council will be 
better placed to meet the needs of children and young people with special 
educational needs or disabilities. 

Lee Harris 

Executive Director Place Services 

Emily King 
Director of Communities 

Contact Officer: David Tominey (Complaints Manager) 033022 22285 

Appendices 

LGSCO’s Public Interest Report (PIR) 

Background papers – None. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
www.lgo.org.uk

Investigation into a complaint against
West Sussex County Council
 (reference number: 20 001 685)

24 June 2021

Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman

Page 11

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


    

Final report 2

Key to names used

Mrs X The complainant
Mr X      The complainant’s partner
Y      Their son
Z Their daughter
Provider E Council arranged tuition provider for Y 

The Ombudsman’s role
For more than 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated 
complaints. We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our 
jurisdiction by recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable 
based on all the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge.

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs 
and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make 
recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault. 

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost 
always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are:

 apologise

 pay a financial remedy

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again.

1. Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally 
name or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a 
letter or job role.

2.

3.

Page 12

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 3

Report summary

Education and Childrens Services
Mrs X complained the Council refused to assess her adopted son, Y, for direct 
payments or respite care. Mrs X also complained Y was out of full-time education 
since February 2020. 

Finding
Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made.

Recommendations
To remedy the injustice caused, we recommend within one month of the date of 
this report the Council should:
• pay Mrs X £1,250 to remedy the injustice caused by the gatekeeping of its 

assessment process and the delays this caused, delays in the Council’s 
complaint process and delays in the provision of respite care, all of which 
caused Mrs X and her family avoidable time, trouble and distress;

• apologise to both Mrs X and Y for the loss of education, loss of support, delay 
and distress experienced;

• reassess the current respite care provided and determine if this is an 
appropriate level of respite for Y and his family in line with the Council’s 
policies;

• pay Mrs X £1,800 to remedy the Council’s delay in finding a suitable school 
placement for Y and the subsequent missed education. Mrs X may use this as 
she sees fit for Y’s educational, social and mental health needs.

Within three months of the date of this report the Council should review its 
process for assessment following a referral to its Multi-Agency Self Guarding Hub 
team to ensure it is meeting its Section 17 duty for all children and not simply 
those who fall under specific criteria to prevent gatekeeping of its assessment 
process. 
Within six months of the date of this report the Council should complete an audit 
or review of the educational provision available in its area for children and young 
people who have special educational needs or a disability to ensure there are 
enough places to meet demand.

The Council has accepted our recommendations.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 4

The complaint
1. Mrs X complained the Council refused to assess her adopted son, Y, for direct 

payments or respite care. 
2. Mrs X also complained Y was out of full-time education since February 2020.
3. Mrs X says the Council failed to respond to requests for escalation of her 

complaint. She says this situation has placed an added stress on the rest of the 
family and caused a financial burden in the absence of a council assessment and 
support. 

Legal and administrative background
The Ombudsman’s role and powers

4. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 
report, we have used the word ‘fault’ to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. We refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused 
an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 
26A(1), as amended)

5. Under the information sharing agreement between the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman and the Office for Standards in Education, Children’s 
Services and Skills (Ofsted), we will share this report with Ofsted.

6. SEND is a tribunal that considers special educational needs. (The Special Educational 
Needs and Disability Tribunal (‘SEND’))

7. The law says we cannot normally investigate a complaint when someone can 
appeal to a tribunal. However, we may decide to investigate if we consider it 
would be unreasonable to expect the person to appeal. (Local Government Act 1974, 
section 26(6)(a), as amended)

Education, Health and Care Plan (EHC Plan)
8. A child with special educational needs may have an Education, Health and Care 

(EHC) Plan. An EHC Plan describes the child’s special educational needs and the 
provision required to meet them.

9. The procedure for assessing a child’s special educational needs and issuing an 
EHC Plan is set out in regulations and Government guidance.

10. A Plan should name the school, or type of school, the child will attend. Councils 
must consult with schools before naming them in a child’s Plan. The law says that 
councils must name a parent’s preferred school in their child’s Plan, so long as 
the school is suitable, and the child’s attendance would not be an inefficient use 
of resources. (Children and Families Act 2014, section 39)

11. If a council names a school within an EHC Plan the school must admit the child 
named in the EHC Plan. (Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 
years 2015, Section 9.83)

12. A council must respond to all requests for an EHC Plan. It must decide whether 
an assessment is needed within six weeks of receiving the request. The whole 
process from the point of request to a council issuing the final EHC Plan must 
take no more than 20 weeks. (Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Regulations 
2014, Section 13 (2))

Page 14

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 5

13. Once a council completes the EHC Plan it has a legal duty to deliver the 
educational and social care provision set out in the Plan.

Children in Need
14. The Children Act 1989 imposes a duty on a council to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children within their area who are ‘in need’. (Children Act 1989, section 17(1))

15. A child in need is defined in the Act as a child who is unlikely to achieve or 
maintain a satisfactory level of health or development, or their health or 
development will be impaired, without the provision of services; or a child who is 
disabled. (Children Act 1989, section 17(10 and 11))

16. Where it appears to a council a child is in need a council may undertake an 
assessment of the needs of the child to determine what services to provide and 
what action to take. (Children Act 1989, Schedule 2, section 3)

17. The assessment process should take no longer than 45 working days from the 
point of referral. An assessment is complete once the social worker has 
discussed it with the child and family and the team manager has viewed it and 
approved the assessment. (Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, section 82 to 84)

Council policy for child and family assessment
18. The Council’s policy says its Child Disability Social Work Team offers a specialist 

social work assessment and service for three groups of children who have:
• a severe learning and/or severe physical disability;
• lifelong complex health needs;
• autism with moderate or above learning disability and mental health needs.

19. The Council will consider eligibility on an individual basis for children who do not 
meet these criteria. 

20. For children who do not meet these criteria but fall under the remit of the Section 
17 provisions, the Council should complete an assessment through its Early Help 
or Assessment and Intervention teams. 

Education for children with health needs
21. Councils must keep educational provision under review to ensure there is 

sufficient provision available to meet children and young people’s needs. (Children 
and Families Act 2014, section 27(2))

22. Councils must “make arrangements for the provision of suitable education at 
school or otherwise than at school for those children of compulsory school age 
who, by reason of illness, exclusion from school or otherwise, may not for any 
period receive suitable education unless such arrangements are made for them”. 
(Education Act 1996, section 19(1)) 

23. Suitable education means efficient education suitable to a child’s age, ability and 
aptitude and to any special educational needs they may have. (Education Act 1996, 
section 19(6))

24. The Council must consider the individual circumstances of each particular child 
and be able to demonstrate how it made its decision.

25. The education provided by a council must be full-time unless a council determines 
that full-time education would not be in the child’s best interests for reasons of the 
child’s physical or mental health. (Education Act 1996, section 3A and 3AA)

Page 15

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 6

26. We have issued guidance on how we expect councils to fulfil their responsibilities 
to provide education for children who, for whatever reason, do not attend school 
full-time. (Out of school… out of mind? How councils can do more to give children out of school a 
good education, published in 2016)

27. We made six recommendations. Councils should:
• consider the individual circumstances of each case and be aware that a council 

may need to act whatever the reason for absence (with the exception of minor 
issues that schools deal with on a day-to-day basis) – even when a child is on 
a school roll;

• consult all the professionals involved in a child's education and welfare, taking 
account of the evidence in coming to decisions;

• decide, based on all the evidence, whether to require attendance at school or 
provide the child with suitable alternative education;

• keep all cases of part-time education under review with a view to increasing it if 
a child's capacity to learn increases;

• adopt a strategic and planned approach to reintegrating children into 
mainstream education where they are able to do so; and

• put whatever action is chosen into practice without delay to ensure the child is 
back in education as soon as possible.

28. Our role is to check councils carry out their duties properly and provide suitable 
education for children who would not otherwise receive it. We do not have the 
power to consider the actions of schools.

Statutory complaints process
29. There is a formal procedure, set out in law, which a council must follow to 

investigate certain types of complaint. It involves three stages.
• Local resolution by the Council (Stage 1).
• An investigation by an independent investigator who will prepare a detailed 

report and findings overseen by an independent person (Stage 2). The Council 
then issues an adjudication letter which sets out its response to the findings. 

• If the person making the complaint asks, an independent panel to consider 
their representations (Stage 3).

30. Regulations set out the timescales for the process. A council should provide a 
response at Stage 1 within 10 working days and at Stage 2 within 25 working 
days (or exceptionally within 65 working days). A council should call a review 
panel at Stage 3 within 30 working days.

How we considered this complaint
31. We produced this report after examining relevant documents and interviewing the 

complainant.
32. We gave the complainant and the Council a confidential draft of this report and 

invited their comments. We took into account the comments received before 
finalising the report. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1

https://www.lgo.org.uk/assets/attach/1778/Focus-report-Out-of-school-Sept-2011-amended-Jan-2016.pdf


    

Final report 7

What we found
Situation before July 2019

33. Mr and Mrs X adopted two children, Y and Z. Both Y and Z are primary school 
age at the time of this report. 

34. Z has support needs due to early childhood experiences. Y has a diagnosis of 
Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) and a secondary diagnosis of Attention 
Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). Y’s FASD causes him to be volatile and 
aggressive at times with his behaviour often unpredictable. Y can become 
overwhelmed by sensory information and struggles in social situations. 

35. Y had input from a Chartered Clinical Psychologist Trauma Specialist and 
adoption services before contact with the Council. 

36. Y had an identified key person at his school, a teaching assistant who had 
Special Education Needs (SEN) training. 

What happened
37. In July 2019 Y’s aggressive and angry behaviour increased. Y’s grandparents 

could no longer help in supporting Mr and Mrs X with childcare. Y’s school 
requested an EHC Plan Needs assessment from the Council for Y on 
16 July 2019. 

38. The Council agreed to complete an EHC Plan Needs assessment on 
27 August 2019. 

39. Y’s identified key person left the school in the summer of 2019. The School 
arranged for four generalised teaching assistants to provide Y with one-to-one 
support for 32.5 hours a week. 

40. Y’s attendance at school became sporadic in the autumn term of 2019. 
41. The Council produced Y’s draft EHC Plan on 5 November 2019 and asked for 

comments from the school and Mr and Mrs X. The School said it could not cope 
with Y’s needs. 

42. The Council issued Y’s EHC Plan on 2 December 2019. It outlined:
• the Council and Mr and Mrs X would find an independent school for pupils with 

Social, Emotional and Mental Health Needs for Y; 
• Y’s school should provide educational provision for Y through 27.5 hours one-

to-one support across the school week through the resources and funding 
already available; and 

• the level of support Y would need in mainstream education until placement at a 
new school could be found. 

43. The Council and Mr and Mrs X began to consult with schools to secure a place for 
Y. The Council contacted four schools about availability. Three schools had no 
availability. School 2 agreed to a taster session on 13 February 2020 for Y. 

44. Y attended the taster session on 13 February 2020, but School 2 advised it could 
not meet Y’s needs. School 2 called the Council’s Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub (MASH) for advice about certain behaviours and comments Y made. The 
Council’s MASH encouraged School 2 to make a referral and it subsequently did. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 8

45. On the back of the MASH referral, the Council’s Child Disability Team applied for 
home tuition, through Provider E, for Y on 18 February 2020 to supplement 
mainstream education. The Council also contacted three further schools to make 
enquiries for Y. 

46. Y’s school excluded him for two and a half days following aggressive behaviour 
on 24 February 2020. Mrs X contacted adoption support who also contacted the 
Council’s MASH about Y. Mr and Mrs X agreed with the school that Y should not 
return to the school following his exclusion period ending. The Council contacted 
Mrs X about the offer of home tuition through Provider E as alternative provision 
to in school learning.

47. Provider E met with Mrs X and Y on 9 March 2020. Following this meeting 
Provider E recommended they provide a package of 15 hours a week of tuition for 
Y starting in April 2020. 

48. Y’s Special Guardianship and Adoption social worker referred Y to the Council’s 
MASH on 10 March 2020 to get a Child and Family assessment completed to set 
up respite care, direct payments or a personal budget. The Council said Y did not 
have a severe learning disability or Autism alongside a moderate learning 
disability so was not eligible for social care intervention. The Council provided 
details of the support available through the “Local Offer” website. Mrs X disputed 
the Council’s decision and provided details of Y’s diagnosing clinician and made a 
formal complaint to the Council.

49. The Council provided its Stage 1 response on 16 April 2020. It said:
• Y did not meet the Council’s criteria for lifelong services from the Council’s 

Child Disability Team. Therefore, Y was not eligible for direct payments; and 
• the Child Disability Team provided specialist social work service for children 

with the most complex disability needs. 
50. Mrs X disputed the Stage 1 response on 26 April 2020. She said the Council’s 

Child Disability Team was wrong to only offer Child and Family assessments for 
children with Autism (ASD) and/or a moderate/severe learning disability. Mrs X 
asked the Council to respond to her complaint at Stage 2.

51. Provider E began to provide tuition to Y in May 2020. Due to the COVID-19 
pandemic this tuition was online. This tuition ran until the end of the 2020 summer 
term. School 3 also contacted Mrs X to invite Y to a taster session in 
September 2020. 

52. Mrs X asked a solicitor for advice and chased the Council for a response three 
times in July 2020. 

53. The Council advised it would not progress to Stage 2 on 16 July 2020. It said:
• it delayed in providing a response to Mrs X’s dispute over the Stage 1 

response. The Council offered Mrs X £50 to reflect this; and 
• the decision it made not to assess Y was in line with its policy so it had no 

reason to escalate to Stage 2. 
54. Mrs X complained to us. 
55. A new referral was made to the MASH on 22 July 2020. The Council decided it 

needed to complete a Child and Family assessment on this occasion despite 
saying Y’s disability needs were not eligible for social work intervention. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 9

56. The Council completed Y’s Child and Family assessment on 18 August 2020. The 
Council’s social worker said the “parents have suggested 6 hours a week” respite 
care and the social worker agreed the family should “be supported with regular 
consistent respite”. The Council said it needed to:
• consult its resources panel for advice on funding or resources for Y and the 

family;
• continue supporting Y through home tuition until he transitioned to School 3; 

and 
• draw up a Child in Need Plan and complete a review of Y. 

57. Provider E continued to provide tuition to Y in the Autumn 2020 term. This tuition 
was part home based and part based at its learning centre. 

58. Y attended School 3 in September 2020 for taster sessions. School 3 advised it 
could not manage Y’s needs. The Council contacted two further schools with 
School 4 advising Y could visit for a review and School 5 advising it was full. 
Mrs X declined School 4’s invitation. Mrs X had previously decided this school 
was not suitable for Y due to the distance and lack of specialism in Y’s needs. 
The Council offered two further schools to Mrs X in September 2020, but she 
declined these as unsuitable. Y went onto the waiting list for School 5 which 
Mrs X thought could be a suitable placement for Y. 

59. Mrs X hired a solicitor to chase the Council for the support promised in the 
August 2020 Child and Family assessment. Mrs X also requested funding for an 
independent ASD assessment. The Council advised Mrs X to wait for the NHS 
assessment.

60. The Council arranged a planning meeting for 23 October 2020. At this meeting 
the Council agreed to:
• keep in place the 15 hours a week home tuition provided to Y; 
• arrange and fund six hours a week of respite care for the family; and  
• reimburse the six hours a week respite care the family had paid for from 

1 September 2020, totalling £1,188. 
61. Y began regular sessions of alternative provision with a youth support group for 

social and emotional education in December 2020 alongside Provider E. 
62. The Council completed an emergency review of Y’s EHC Plan on 

21 January 2021. The emergency EHC Plan noted the following.
• Mr and Mrs X “desperately need to find a nurturing SEN school for” Y.
• Mr and Mrs X praised the work of the home tuition provider with Y. 
• Y had been making progress with his home tuition sessions and began to 

attend at the learning centre. The home tuition provider agreed Y should attend 
a new school at the earliest opportunity with their assistance in transition. 

• The EHC Plan detailed what support Y would need in an educational setting 
but did not name a specific school. 

63. The Council found a school to place Y on 26 March 2021 with the view to starting 
at this school in September 2021, using the summer term as an introduction for Y 
to the school. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 10

Conclusions

EHC Plan assessment and school placement
64. Regulations say a council must issue an EHC Plan as soon as practicable, and in 

any event within 20 weeks of receiving a request to assess a child. There are 
limited circumstances in which a council does not need to meet this deadline, but 
they do not apply in this case.

65. The school made the request on 16 July 2019, so the Council had until 
3 December 2019 to issue the final EHC Plan. 

66. The Council produced Y’s EHC Plan on 2 December 2019. While this was within 
the statutory timescales, the EHC Plan failed to identify a school placement for Y. 
The Council did not name a school on Y’s EHC Plan but simply referred to the 
type of school suitable for Y’s needs. The Council was consulting with schools 
and can only have been doing so with a view to naming a school in Y’s EHC Plan. 

67. When a council has not identified a particular school, it can instead name a type 
of educational establishment within an EHC Plan. A council should specify 
mainstream education if a parent has not requested a particular school. But the 
Council should not do this when mainstream education is not suitable. The 
Council decided mainstream education was not suitable for Y since it said Y 
needed an independent school for pupils with Social, Emotional and Mental 
Health Needs. 

68. The Council’s revised draft EHC Plan on 20 January 2021 still does not name a 
specific school. Failing to name a specific school in Y’s EHC Plan effectively left Y 
in mainstream education until the Council found a suitable school.

69. The Council said it did not name a school on Y’s EHC Plan because it was not 
able to identify a specific school with availability despite extensive searches 
during the assessment period. 

70. The Council had a responsibility to identify a suitable school for a child to meet 
their needs within 20 weeks of an EHC plan request. Parents should be consulted 
as part of this process but ultimately a council must decide on a school it believes 
is suitable to meet a child’s needs. A council should consider what is in the best 
interest of a child whether this is placing a child at a school declined by a parent 
or against the wishes of a school. 

71. Parents have a right of appeal to the Tribunal if they disagree with the school 
named, or lack of school named, in their child’s EHC Plan. Since Mrs X had this 
appeal right to the tribunal, we cannot investigate the Council’s decision not to 
name a school. 

72. However, we can look at any delay in the assessment and creation of an EHC 
Plan as well as any failure by the Council to deliver the provision within an EHC 
Plan. 

73. A council has a statutory duty to carry out actions outlined in an EHC Plan. Y’s 
EHC Plan assessment committed the Council to finding him an independent 
school for pupils with Social, Emotional and Mental Health Needs and to provide 
one-to-one support in education. Delay in finding a suitable school placement for 
Y is fault. 

74. The Council made several attempts to source a placement for Y at a suitable 
school. In total the Council directly contacted 11 schools from December 2019 to 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 11

October 2020. Y had taster sessions at two schools who said they could not 
accommodate him. Mrs X also declined two other schools.

75. Mrs X has explored a number of schools for Y. While it is notable that Mrs X has 
advised some schools were not suitable for Y, she has identified several different 
schools she feels would be appropriate for Y. However, these schools have told 
Mrs X, or the Council, they are full, cannot meet Y’s needs or have failed to 
respond entirely. 

76. The failure of the Council to find a suitable school placement caused a delay in Y 
attending a suitable school for 16 months and left him without full-time education 
for slightly more than 13 months. The failure of the Council to find Y a suitable 
school placement before February 2020 also invoked the Council’s Section 19 
duty which is addressed separately in this report. 

77. This fault meant the burden of finding a school placement has fallen significantly 
on Mrs X. As above, a parent should be engaged in the process. However, Mrs X 
has explored extensive school options since the Council was unable to source a 
suitable school placement for Y. The Council should be leading this process, not 
a parent. 

78. The Council has a duty to keep SEN provision under review under Section 27 of 
the Children and Families Act to make sure the provision available in its area is 
sufficient to meet children and young people’s needs. The lack of availability at 
SEN schools for Y suggests the Council is not meeting its duty to ensure 
sufficient provision. 

Child and family assessment
79. A council should complete any requested assessment of a child who falls under 

the Section 17 criteria of the Children Act 1989. A council should take no longer 
than 45 working days from referral. 

80. School 2 made the initial referral to the Council’s Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) on 13 February 2020. The Council rejected Y for assessment on several 
occasions until the referral on 22 July 2020. 

81. The Council’s rationale for rejection of Y for assessment was that his disability did 
not meet its criteria for assessment with its Child Disability Team. The Council’s 
MASH closed Y’s referral without assessment because Y did “not have a severe 
learning disability, or Autism alongside a moderate learning disability” and while Y 
“clearly has additional needs, his disabilities are not eligible to have social care 
intervention”. 

82. The Council also said Mrs X was specifically asking for direct payments. 
83. A council is entitled to have a specialist team to consider a specific range of 

needs. However, this specialist team cannot be at the expense of a council failing 
to assess other children who might meet the criteria for help under Section 17 of 
the Children Act. A council also cannot use a requested outcome from a person, 
such as direct payments, as reason not to complete the required assessment 
under the Act. 

84. Y’s disability and overall circumstance was not materially different between his 
exclusion in February 2020, prompting the second referral to the Council’s MASH, 
and the referral on 22 July 2020. The Council accepted Y for assessment by 
MASH on 22 July 2020. On balance the Council should have accepted Y for 
assessment on 13 February 2020. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 12

85. The Council appears to be placing additional hurdles for people preventing 
assessment under Section 17 of the Children Act. Children in need are entitled to 
assessments if their parents want one. A council cannot deny assessment 
because a child does not meet threshold criteria, doing so is gatekeeping its 
assessment process.  

86. The Council failing to assess Y through its Assessment and Intervention Team on 
the first referral is fault. The Council should review its process for assessment 
following a referral to its MASH team to ensure it is meeting its Section 17 duty for 
all children who might be in need and not simply those who fall under specific 
criteria. The Council has advised it is currently completing a review of the 
eligibility criteria for its specialist disability service. Our recommendation will run 
concurrently with the Council’s ongoing review.

87. This fault caused a delay in Y’s assessment of nearly 23 weeks. 
88. The Council’s resource panel committed to supporting Y’s family with funding for 

six hours respite care a week. The Council backdated this respite care cost to 
1 September 2020. 

89. We cannot say for certain Y’s family would have received respite if the Council 
had completed the Child and Family assessment sooner. However, the lack of 
difference in Y’s situation between the first and last referral shows it is more likely 
than not the same level of support would have been provided. Because of the 
Council’s delay Y’s family seems to have missed out on the opportunity for respite 
since February 2020. 

90. While the Council committed to providing six hours a week respite care, this level 
of respite was suggested by the family. We have not seen anything to suggest the 
Council assessed Y’s needs before determining an appropriate level of respite 
care. The Council has failed to carry out its own assessment of the appropriate 
level of respite care, this is also fault. 

Alternative provision
91. Section 19 of the Education Act 1996 states councils have a duty to make 

suitable educational provision for children of compulsory school age who are 
absent from school because of exclusion, illness or otherwise.

92. The school excluded Y on 24 February 2020 for two and a half days and 
immediately made the Council aware. The school told the Council it was 
struggling to cope with Y. This was the consistent message since the summer of 
2019 when the school first referred Y to the Council. 

93. Mr and Mrs X, and Y’s school, made the decision to keep Y at home because of 
the issues Y was experiencing at school. While Y remained on roll at his school 
he was no longer attending. Since the Council did not consider that Y’s lack of 
attendance was unauthorised, this invoked the Council’s Section 19 duty. 

94. Government guidance on a council’s section 19 duties recommends councils 
arrange education for a child from the sixth day of absence when it is clear a child 
would be away from school for 15 days or more. This means the Council should 
have put in place alternative provision for Y from 8 March 2020.

95. The Council acted to arrange a meeting between Mrs X, Y and a home tuition 
service. The Council acted without delay when arranging this meeting. However, 
the home tuition service did not have availability until after the Easter break. 
Mrs X confirmed this tuition started in May 2020. The Council’s delay of two 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 13

months is fault. This fault caused Y to miss six weeks of education from 
8 March 2020 without suitable alternative provision in place.

96. Since May 2020, the Council provided alternative provision through Provider E to 
Y both at home and, in the Autumn term, a mix of home and at the learning 
centre. The evidence shows Y made progress with this alternative provision and 
Mrs X has been positive about the impact of this provision for Y. 

97. The most recent feedback from Provider E is that Y is making progress but is still 
working towards completing the number of academic tasks a day set as a goal for 
the Autumn term. 

98. The alternative provision the Council arranged is only 15 hours a week with 
Provider E, falling short of full-time education. However, Provider E recommended 
15 hours a week to begin. The most recent academic feedback from the tuition 
provider is that Y is making progress but would not be able to manage more 
academic tasks a day yet. 

99. The Council supplemented Y’s alternative provision in December 2020 with a 
youth support group for social and emotional education. The Council previously 
explored this in March 2020 but due to the COVID-19 pandemic was unable to 
provide this until December 2020. 

100. Given Y’s individual circumstances and the positive views Mrs X has about work 
done by Provider E, we consider it unlikely the Council providing full-time home 
education through Provider E would have been in Y’s best interests. The COVID-
19 pandemic has also restricted the Council's ability to arrange additional 
alternative provision outside of a traditional educational setting. 

101. We do not find fault with the level of alternative provision the Council put in place 
from May 2020. 

102. However, alternative provision is not a full substitute for a suitable school 
placement for any child. The fault of the Council in not finding a school placement 
for Y has continued to have an impact, albeit smaller, on Y and his family since 
the Council put in place the provision from Provider E. 

103. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, not all SEN schools have remained open 
since May 2020, with many moving to online learning. So it seems likely Y’s 
alternative provision is a suitable, if not equal, replacement to remote learning 
through a school. 

104. Most schools have been open for Y’s age range from September 2020 through to 
the end of the year before closing again in January 2021. Primary schools in 
England also re-opened on 8 March 2021 for four weeks before the Easter 
holidays. We estimate this means Y has missed 18 weeks of education within a 
suitable school setting up to 2 April 2021. 

Complaint handling
105. The Council initially followed the Statutory Complaints process for Mrs X’s 

complaint and provided a response at Stage 1. The Council declined progression 
to Stage 2 and directed Mrs X to us. 

106. The Council should have provided Mrs X’s Stage 1 response within 10 working 
days and the rejection of the Stage 1 appeal within 25 working days. The Council 
failed to meet either of these timescales. This is fault. 

107. Additionally, Mrs X’s complaint relates to Section 17 of the Children Act. This 
gave Mrs X a statutory right to progress to Stage 2 of the Council’s complaint 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 14

process. The Council was not allowed to refuse progressions to Stage 2. This is 
fault. 

Conclusions
Our guidance on remedies

108. We expect bodies in jurisdiction to treat people fairly and with respect, and not to 
expose the public to unnecessary distress, harm or risk as a result of their actions 
or inactions. Such injustice cannot generally be remedied by a payment, so we 
usually seek a symbolic amount to acknowledge the impact of fault on the 
complainant. The amount depends on the circumstances of the case.

109. When we assess distress, we consider the complainant’s individual 
circumstances (such as their state of health and age). In reaching a view on 
remedy we will consider all the circumstances including:
• the severity of the distress;
• the length of time involved;
• the number of people affected (for example, members of the complainant’s 

family as well as the complainant);
• whether the person affected is vulnerable and affected by distress more 

severely than most people; and
• any relevant professional opinion about the effects on any individual.

110. A remedy payment for distress is often a moderate sum of between £100 and 
£300. In cases where the distress was severe or prolonged, up to £1,000 may be 
justified. Exceptionally, we may recommend more than this.

111. The Council was at fault for failing to find a suitable school placement for Y as it 
committed to do with Y’s EHC Plan. This meant that for 16 months Y was not 
placed at a suitable school that would meet his needs. This fault also placed the 
burden of finding a school placement for Y disproportionately on Mrs X. 

112. The Council was also at fault for failing to assess under its Section 17 duty in 
March 2020. This fault caused an avoidable delay of nearly 23 weeks in 
completing Y’s assessment. The delay meant there was no respite provision for Y 
and his family during this time causing distress and frustration. When the Council 
did assess Y, we have not seen any evidence it considered Y’s needs when 
deciding a suitable level of respite care, the Council simply agreed with Mr and 
Mrs X’s suggestion. This caused a potential injustice as it may be that Y and 
Mrs X have not got sufficient respite care.

113. The Council caused additional delay from 18 August 2020, when it completed the 
assessment, to 23 October 2020 when it finalised the provision of respite care 
funding. This fault caused added financial strain and distress on Mrs X and her 
family. 

114. The Council also failed to meet the timescales for the Stage 1 response or 
rejection of the Stage 1 appeal. The Council incorrectly refused Mrs X access to 
Stage 2 of the complaints process despite her having a statutory right to this. This 
caused Mrs X frustration and avoidable distress through continued delays in the 
process and blocking of her statutory rights to progress her complaint. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/staff-guidance/guidance-on-remedies


    

Final report 15

115. Taken together the repeated and extensive faults by the Council caused a severe 
injustice to Y and his family. They experienced avoidable distress, frustration, loss 
of support and a suitable education as well as financial implications for the family. 

116. We consider the injustice Mrs X and her family experienced due to the Council’s 
fault was both severe and prolonged. For this reason, we consider the Council 
should apologise to Mrs X and provide a payment of £1,250. 

117. The Council should also reassess the family’s needs and determine an 
appropriate level of respite for Y and his family in line with the Council’s policies. 

118. The lack of availability at SEN schools for Y suggests the Council is not meeting 
its duty to ensure sufficient provision. The Council should complete an audit or 
review of the educational provision available in its area for children and young 
people who have special educational needs or a disability to ensure there are 
enough places to meet demand. 

119. The Council’s Section 19 duty also arose because of its failure to find a suitable 
school placement for Y before February 2020. This meant Y has been without 
suitable full-time education for over 13 months.

120. Our guidance for fault resulting in a loss of educational provision recommends a 
payment of between £200 and £600 a month to acknowledge the impact of that 
loss. 

121. Given Y’s particular needs and the impact of Y being out of education had on his 
family we consider a remedy of £600 a month reflects the Council failing to 
provide any suitable alternative provision until May 2020. Including the Easter 
holidays, this amounts to six weeks without any alternative provision which the 
Council is at fault for. 

122. Under normal circumstances we would ask the Council to provide a payment of 
£200 for each academic month to Y for education missed while alternative 
provision was in place due to the fault of the Council in not finding a school. When 
considering the impact of COVID-19, Y was without full time education, but in 
receipt of alternative provision, for 18 weeks. 

123. The total of Y’s missed education at £600 a month for six weeks and £200 a 
month for 18 weeks amounts to £1,800. 

124. The overall delays from the Council also caused Mrs X to get legal help to pursue 
the finalisation of the Council support. 

125. We can understand why Mrs X looked for independent support given the repeated 
delays and fault by the Council and how that impacted on her family. It is also 
evident Mrs X did not think the Council was doing enough to find Y a school 
placement and there were long and unreasonable delays, a position supported by 
this report.  

126. However, Mrs X did not need to approach a solicitor, she had the option of 
approaching us (a free service) or the tribunal. Approaching a solicitor was 
Mrs X’s choice and not a direct cause of the fault by the Council. For this reason, 
we cannot justify recommending the refund of any legal fees by the Council. 

Recommendations 
127. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 

has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



    

Final report 16

Council, Cabinet, or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members 
and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended)

128. In addition to the requirements set out above, within one month of the date of this 
report the Council has agreed to:
• pay Mrs X £1,250 to remedy the injustice caused by the gatekeeping of its 

assessment process and the delays this caused, delays in the Council’s 
complaint process and delays in the provision of respite care, all of which 
caused Mrs X and her family avoidable time, trouble and distress;

• apologise to both Mrs X and Y for the loss of education, loss of support, delay 
and distress experienced;

• reassess the current respite care provided and determine if this is an 
appropriate level of respite for Y and his family in line with the Council’s 
policies; and

• pay Mrs X £1,800 to remedy the Council’s delay in finding a suitable school 
placement for Y and the subsequent missed education. Mrs X may use this as 
she sees fit for Y’s educational, social and mental health needs.

129. Within three months of the date of this report the Council agreed to review its 
process for assessment following a referral to its MASH team to ensure it is 
meeting its Section 17 duty for all children and not simply those who fall under 
specific criteria to prevent gatekeeping of its assessment process. 

130. Within six months of the date of this report the Council agreed to complete an 
audit or review of the educational provision available in its area for children and 
young people who have special educational needs or a disability to ensure there 
are enough places to meet demand.

Decision
131. We have completed our investigation as we have found fault causing injustice. 

The action we have recommended is a suitable way to remedy this.

Page 26

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee
	4 Report by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
	Appendix 1 - Public Interest Report


